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E. STATEMENT OF HISTORIC CONTEXTS

Second Generation Veterans Hospitals are significant as a tangible manifestation of the federal
government’s commitment to the health care of veterans of World War I. Constructed between 1919
and 1950, these medical facilities reveal a profound shift from the medical care offered to veterans at
the federal level prior to World War |. Second Generation Veterans Hospitals built upon the mission of
the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (NHDVS), also known as First Generation Veterans
Homes (which were built or acquired from 1866 to 1929). Whereas the eleven branches of the NHDVS,
operated as long term domiciliary and hospital facilities for volunteer Union veterans of the Civil War,
the Second Generation Veterans Hospital’s mission was the rapid rehabilitation, healing, and return of
veterans to their productive civilian lives through modern medical facilities, therapies, medicines, and
surgical techniques. The growth of the number of Second Generation Veterans Hospitals was in part
spurred by the continued liberalizing of admittance requirements that ultimately provided medical care
to veterans for ailments unrelated to service injuries or disabilities. By 1950 the Veterans Administration
was operating 136 hospitals, the nation’s largest network of hospitals.’ Standardized designs for these
hospitals were developed and continued to evolve, creating large campuses with buildings grouped
according to function. Although there are similarities among all of the Second Generation Veterans
Hospitals, they can be divided based upon two periods of construction, Period | and Period Il, and four
hospital sub-types: neuropsychiatric, tuberculosis, general medical and surgical hospitals, and
homes/general medical hospitals. Most of these facilities, especially neuropsychiatric hospitals, were
constructed near rural communities able to accommodate the large tracts of land necessary for their
campus settings and the agricultural operations utilized as occupational therapy. The majority exhibit
nationally popular Colonial Revival architectural styles. The physical expression conveyed by these
facilities honored ailing and injured veterans through a recognizably “American” or “Patriotic” language
of architecture. While there are similarities, the built environment of Second Generation Veterans
Hospitals can be distinguished from that of their predecessors: First Generation Homes built for
veterans of the Civil War, and later hospitals that served veterans from turn-of-the-century conflicts and
from the global combat of the middle decades of the twentieth century, such as that of World War II.
Hospitals constructed in the second half of the twentieth century reflected a growing need for out-
patient treatment rather than residential care and were known as Third Generation or Bradley
Hospitals. Second Generation Veterans Hospitals have a distinct material culture that serves as a
physical reminder of the prevailing and progressive medical care embraced by the federal government
and offered to United States veterans who served in foreign theaters and to those suffering from
ailments not associated with active duty situations. In many ways, veterans were offered medical care
superior to that available to the civilian population. In an era prior to the widespread availability of
comprehensive, insurance-funded health care, veterans hospitals provided the best available care at
little or no cost to those who served in the U.S. military.

! Administrator of Veterans Affairs Annual Report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 1950 (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Government Printing Office, 1951), 9.
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Changes in Veterans Health Care Offered by the Federal Government to Veterans of
World War |

History of Government Sponsored Veterans Health Care

The Second Generation Veterans Hospitals, created to serve the medical needs of veterans of
World War [, built upon the mission of various government efforts that preceded them. Although the
following discussion is organized into sections, many of the programs overlapped chronologically.

I. Revolutionary War to the Civil War, 1798-1865

The origin of medical care provided by the federal government to veterans dates back to the
Revolutionary War when, recognizing the service of disabled soldiers, the Continental Congress
provided pensions to those veterans who had service-related injuries. The United States Congress
continued to offer monetary aid to disabled war veterans. The government expanded this pension
system in 1818 to include any veterans who needed assistance, making clear that the pension was a
reward for service, not charity. The number of disabled former soldiers receiving government pensions
continually expanded, and in 1833, the Bureau of Pensions was created to administer the growing
federal military pension program.?

One of the first pieces of national legislation toward the creation of a comprehensive medical
complex for veterans of the United States, entitled the “Act for the relief of sick and disabled Seamen,”
provided medical care to merchant seamen and was extended to those serving in the United States
Navy in 1799.® The act did not, however, result in the immediate construction of hospitals for the care of
sailors, as existing facilities were utilized. By 1851 marine hospitals were located in New Orleans,
Louisiana; Mobile, Alabama; Key West, Florida; Charleston, South Carolina; Ocracoke, North Carolina;
Chelsea, Massachusetts; and Norfolk, Virginia.4 The construction of additional marine hospitals was
undertaken during the mid-nineteenth century, coinciding with the expansion of maritime trade
throughout the country, resulting in the creation of two dozen marine hospitals by 1861. Only seven
marine hospitals were in use by 1872.°

2 Suzanne Julin, “Draft: National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers; Assessment of Significance and National
Historic Landmark Recommendations” (2007), 7, completed under a Cooperative Agreement between the
National Council on Public History and the National Park Service, Midwest Regional Office, and located on the
World Wide Web on the National Park Service website at:
http://www.nps.gov/history/nhl/Downloads/NHDVS/NHDV S%20Draft%20Two.pdf. Accessed January 2009.

8 Benjamin J. Lewis, VA Medical Program in Relation to Medical Schools (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government
Printing Office, 1970; Washington, D.C.: Veterans Administration Department of Medicine and Surgery, 1984), 24.
Citations are to the Veterans Administration edition; Bess Furman, in consultation with Ralph C. Williams, A
Profile of the United States Public Health Service 1798-1948 (Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, 1973),
1-2.

* Lewis, 25; United States Senate, Report of the Secretardy of the Treasury...information in relation to marine
hospitals and the marine hospital fund, 31% Congress, 2" sess., S. Doc. 14, January 20, 1851, 4.

® United States Senate, Report of the Secretary of the Treasury, on the State of Finances for the Year Ending
June 30, 1861, 37" Congress, 2™ sess., S. Doc. 2, 1861, 98, 122—124; United States House of Representatives,
First Annual Report of the Supervising Surgeon of the Marine Hospital Service of the United States for the Year
1872, 42™ Congress, 3" sess., H. Doc. 131, 1873, 80.
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The United States Naval Asylum was established by Congress in 1811 and opened in 1831 in
Philadelphia for elderly and disabled veterans of the Marines and Navy. The disabilities had to occur
during military service for admittance to the Naval Asylum. The Naval Asylum was initially funded
through fees paid by those serving in the Navy. The United States Military Asylum was established on
the outskirts of the nation’s capital in 1851. The Military Asylum became known as the United States
Soldier's Home in the following decade. The United States Soldier's Home was created to serve elderly
veterans and those who had served in the military with over twenty years of service. This establishment
has been in continuous use and is currently known as the Armed Forces Retirement Home
Washington, D.C. Another institution offering care to disabled soldiers was the Government Hospital for
the Insane, created in 1852 and also located in Washington, D.C. This institution provided care to
residents of the city and military personnel suffering from mental illnesses. The hospital also provided
health care to soldiers and naval servicemen during the Civil War but returned to its original purpose of
caring for those with mental diseases after the war. Admission was extended to veterans determined
insane within three years of the termination of their military service. The name of the hospital was
changed to St. Elizabeths prior to World War 1, although patients had referred to the facility by its new
official designation for many years. Because it served as a long term care facility, a cemetery was
created for those patients who died while residing at the facility.®

Il. National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (NHDVS)

Realizing disabled volunteer Union veterans of the Civil War often required long term care in
excess of what their pensions and family members could afford, Congress created government-
sponsored homes for disabled volunteer soldiers of the Civil War in March 1865. These were originally
known as the National Asylum for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers. In 1873 the homes associated with the
earlier legislation were renamed the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (NHDVS), which
reinforced the idea of a “home” as opposed to an “asylum.”” Governed by the Board of Managers, the
NHDVS branches were to be homes for disabled veterans where they would receive lodging, food,
clothing, and possible employment opportunities. These benefits were considered a reward for service
rather than charity.® The branches were operated using military protocols, including uniforms and
regimented daily routines, and were constructed within campus settings with decentralized building
arrangements. The NHDVS branches constructed during the last half of the nineteenth century
contained buildings whose functions within the campus closely followed a military example, such as
barracks, kitchen/mess halls, chapels, shops, power plants, hospitals, and administration buildings.
Cemeteries were also associated with all of the branches, either on the grounds of the facility or in the
local town. The NHDVS branches were located in rural areas on campuses often containing over 100
acres, which could include recreational facilities such as parks, lakes, theaters, and libraries. The

® Gustavus A. Weber and Laurence F. Schmeckebier, The Veterans Administration: Its History, Activities and
Organization (Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1934), 70; Julin, 7-9.

" National Park Service, “History of the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,” Veterans Affairs National
Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, “Discover Our Shared Heritage Travel Itinerary,”
http://www.nps.gov/nr/travell/veterans_affairs/History.html. Accessed January 2011; Weber and Schmeckebier,
73.

® National Park Service, “History of the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,” Veterans Affairs National
Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, “Discover Our Shared Heritage Travel Itinerary.”
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residents of the branches could earn additional funds by working in the various campus shops or
laboring on the branch’s farm, raising agricultural goods for the facility’s kitchen. Buildings at the
branches were constructed in various architectural styles popular from the second half of the nineteenth
to early twentieth century, including Richardsonian Romanesque, Queen Anne, Stick, and Beaux Arts.’

Originally those eligible for admission to the branches of the NHDVS had to be a volunteer
veteran of the Union forces whose illness or disability was directly related to military service during the
Civil War. Over time the admission requirements were altered to include those who had served the
United States in other conflicts by legislation such as the act passed in July 1884 (23 Stat. L., 120) that
allowed entry to the branches for veterans of the War of 1812 and the Mexican War. This legislation
opened the door for veterans that were disabled because of age or disease (not connected with military
service) and therefore did not have the means to support themselves. Confederate veterans were still
excluded from admission to the branches.'® While the homes offered medical care, many patients were
indigents with long-term disabilities. The majority of patients from 1870 to 1922 were Union Civil War
veterans, with veterans of the Spanish-American War gaining admittance to the homes beginning in
1900. The number of Civil War veterans residing at NHDVS branches reached its peak in 1905, with an
average of 20,464 Civil War veterans. The peak year of average overall population at the NHDVS
branches was 1906, when the average total population was 21,105 members. The majority of this
figure included Civil War veterans, but it also included a growing number of Spanish-American War
veterans. By 1932 an average of over 16,000 World War | veterans were utilizing the homes, whereas
the average number of Civil War veterans had declined to slightly over 700.** According to Ronald
Hamowy in Government and Public Health in America, the majority of benefits allotted to veterans
before the Great War were paid as pensions, primarily to those injured in the Civil War or their widows.
Access to the branches of the NHDVS was another benefit provided to former volunteer soldiers who
did not serve with the Confederate forces. Passage of the Dependent Pension Act in 1890 greatly
increased the number of eligible Civil War pensioners and their dependents and the outflow of
payments from federal coffers.’”> The NHDVS continued offering domiciliary and medical care to
veterans until its merger into the Veterans Administration in 1930. From that point, the former NHDVS
facilities were under the control of the Veterans Administration and were referred to as Veterans
Administr%tion Homes, but they continued to provide the same domiciliary and medical care to disabled
veterans.

[Il. Creation of the Veterans Bureau

The First World War between the Allies and Central Powers began in 1914 in Europe and Russia.
The United States remained a neutral party until its entrance into the war in April 1917. Hostilities

° |bid.

19 Esther M. Corzine, Establishment of Veterans Administration Hospitals and Domiciliaries (Washington, D.C.:
Research Division, Coordination Service, Veterans Administration, 1951), n.p.; Weber and Schmeckebier, 73-81;
National Park Service, “History of the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers,” Veterans Affairs National
Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers, “Discover Our Shared Heritage Travel Itinerary.”

' Weber and Schmeckebier, 452—453; Annual Report of the Administrator of Veterans Affairs for the Fiscal Year
Ended June 30, 1932 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1932), 90.

2 Ronald Hamowy, Government and Public Health in America (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2007),
271-272.

'3 Julin, 37-38.
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continued until November 1918, when the Armistice was signed.'* Excepting the brief Spanish-
American War in the late nineteenth century, the United States’ entry into World War | created a need
for medical care of veterans not seen since the Civil War. The Bureau of War Risk Insurance was
created as part of the Treasury Department in 1914. Initially the Bureau of War Risk Insurance insured
American ships and their cargoes from losses during World War |, but in 1917, after the United States’
entry into the global conflict, the bureau was charged with issuing death and disability insurance to
servicemen, disbursing allotments to the veterans families, and with providing rehabilitation services
and medical care to veterans.™ Public Law 90, passed in 1917, was the first occasion that medical care
to veterans was specifically addressed by national legislation, whereas before this, domiciliary benefits
with minimal medical care were offered to veterans. The medical care offered under the 1917 law was
for injuries related only to military service.*®

Because of the scale of the task and its lack of experience in health care, the Bureau of War Risk
Insurance entered into a cooperative agreement with the United States Public Health Service (PHS) to
handle the medical needs of the nation’s returning disabled soldiers. The role of rehabilitation of
disabled veterans was undertaken by the Federal Board for Vocational Education. Offering
rehabilitation services to disabled veterans in order to return them quickly to productive civilian life was
a dramatic shift from the long term domiciliary care provided by the branches of the NHDVS. After the
Armistice in 1918, the Bureau of War Risk Insurance no longer wrote insurance policies for veterans,
but since these policies were paid through payroll deductions during the conflict, a new accounting
system was necessary to inform veterans of their insurance payments and premium collections. During
the 1918 fiscal year, the Bureau of War Risk Insurance increased in size from 6,703 to 13,771
employees.'” Confusion among veterans increased as the bureaucracy grew, because different
agencies and thousands of new employees were now managing veterans benefits.

The PHS, having been renamed in 1912, had been previously known as the Public Health and
Marine Hospital Service (1902).'® Before taking responsibility for the medical care of disabled World
War | veterans, the PHS maintained a number of small hospitals with a total capacity of approximately
1,500 patients. To address the imminent arrival of returning disabled veterans from Europe requiring
medical care, actions were taken by the PHS to remedy the shortage of available government hospital
beds. Civilian hospitals throughout the nation were contracted to accommodate returning veterans.
Leases were assumed on existing government hospitals (such as Navy and Army hospitals), properties
with existing structures that could be quickly retrofitted to serve as hospitals were leased (such as
resorts), and existing hospitals were purchased, all in an attempt to meet the medical demands of the
nation’s returning disabled soldiers. In the second quarter of 1919, the PHS was able to establish ten

* Tom Pendergast and Sara Pendergast, World War | Aimanac, ed. Christine Slovey (Detroit, MI: Gale Group,
2002), xvii, 175; Byron Farwell, Over There, The United States in the Great War 1917-1918 (New York, NY: W.
W. Norton and Company, 1999), 35-36, 53, 257.

!> Weber and Schmeckebier, 212-214.

'8 Corzine, n.p.; George E. ljams and Philip B. Matz, “History of the Medical and Domiciliary Care of Veterans,”
The Military Surgeon 76, no. 3 (March 1935): 126.

" Weber and Schmeckebier, 215-216; Amy W. Knight and Robert L. Worden, Veterans Benefits Administration:
An Organizational History, 1776—-1994 (Washington D.C.: Veterans Benefits Administration, 1995), 16; James A.
Tobey, The National Government and Public Health (Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Press, 1926), 329.

' Hamowy, 11.
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hospitals. The PHS also opened out-patient dispensaries, numbering fifty-five at their peak.*® As stated
in a 1923 article by C. H. Lavinder, a surgeon with the PHS serving in New York, New York, “Many, if
not most, of these institutions were unsatisfactory from a physical standpoint. Every attempt was made,
however, to organize and operate a hospital system with high professional standards.”*°

Rehabilitation was viewed as an important service for injured World War | veterans, and it was also
hoped the training would reduce government subsidies to these former servicemen, who would be able
to quickly return to the civilian workforce. The passage of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act in 1918
offered training to those discharged military personnel who were eligible for benefits from the Bureau of
War Risk Insurance. The training was administered by the Federal Board for Vocational Education,
although the Bureau of War Risk Insurance had to first determine the individual veterans compensation
before any rehabilitation training could begin. The number of cases under review by the Bureau of War
Risk Insurance to establish an individual's compensation created delays in both monetary
compensation and rehabilitation training, since the Federal Board for Vocational Education could not
accept individuals before their compensation was determined. Coordination within the three responsible
governmental parties, the Bureau of War Risk Insurance, the PHS, and the Rehabilitation Division of
the Federal Board for Vocational Education continued to be problematic. In numerous cases, once the
rehabilitation training was completed, the veteran had to be examined by a physician who reported to
the PHS and whose information was then sent to the Bureau of War Risk Insurance before
compensation could be resumed. Steps were taken in an attempt to remedy such situations, but
problems persisted.?*

Inefficiencies were created by three government organizations dealing with World War | veterans,
including overlapping functions and a lack of adequate hospital beds for returning injured veterans.?
President Warren G. Harding created a commission under the direction of Charles G. Dawes to
address the issues faced by the nation’s veterans of the Great War. Veterans organizations, such as
the Disabled American Veterans (created in 1921) and the American Legion (organized in 1919),
pushed for changes in the existing system. The Dawes Committee, following a similar suggestion
offered by the previously-created Consultants on Hospitalization committee, proposed realigning the
three major governmental entities that managed veterans benefits into a single agency. The Veterans
Bureau Act of 1921 (42 Stat. L., 147), enacted in August 1921 and also known as the Sweet Act (or
Sweet Bill), created the Veterans Bureau. The act merged the duties toward veterans of World War |
held by the Bureau of War Risk Insurance (which ceased to exist), the vocational training of the Federal
Board of Vocational Education, and the medical functions of the PHS, but not the hospitals under the
PHS’s control. The Veterans Bureau was an independent governmental agency, unlike the PHS and
the Bureau of War Risk Insurance, which were both under the United States Treasury Department.
Remaining separate governmental entities were the NHDVS and the Bureau of Pensions, which
managed veterans assistance from earlier wars. In April 1922, fifty-seven hospitals of the PHS
pertaining to the care of veterans were transferred to the Veterans Bureau by the authority of the
president of the United States. Nine hospitals and sanatoriums that were under construction or being

19 C. H. Lavinder, “Hospital Activities of the United States Public Health Service During 1922,” The Modern
Hospital 20, no. 1 (January 1923): 31-32; C. C. Pierce, “Activities of the U. S. Public Health Service During 1921,”
The Modern Hospital 18, no. 1 (January 1922): 33-34; Hamowy, 31.

0| avinder, 31.

L Weber and Schmeckebier, 104—114; Knight and Worden, 16-17.

2 Tobey, 327-328; Weber and Schmeckebier, 153-156.
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remodeled by the Treasury Department were to be transferred to the newly created agency upon
completion of the hospitals.”® A number of the hospitals under control of the PHS had been closed prior
to the transfer of the facilities to the Veterans Bureau, leaving approximately forty-four hospitals under
the direct control of the Veterans Bureau.?*

In the spring of 1921, prior to the creation of the Veterans Bureau, an appropriation was made by
Congress for the construction of new hospitals and expansion of existing government medical facilities.
This appropriation for $18.6 million was Public Act No. 384, also known as the first Langley Bill. The
monies under this appropriation were under the control of the United States Treasury Department.?
President Warren G. Harding appointed Charles R. Forbes, former Director of the Bureau of War Risk
Insurance, as the first director of the Veterans Bureau. The director of the newly created agency
apparently met opposition to the planned construction of new veterans hospitals from Dr. Charles
Sawyer, the director of the Federal Board of Hospitalization and the president’s personal doctor.
President Harding established the Federal Board of Hospitalization in 1921. Its purpose was to
coordinate the various federal agencies dealing with medical facilities, such as the Army, Navy,
Veterans Bureau, and the PHS. In Sawyer’s opinion, it was more economical to use available beds for
disabled veterans in existing army cantonments in the United States than to construct new facilities.?® In
Bess Furman’s A Profile of the United States Public Health Service, 1798-1948, Furman states that Dr.
Sawyer “apparently was determined that all disabled veterans should be housed in old cantonment
buildings and Army barracks. Forbes visited all these cantonment buildings which had been operated
as hospitals under the Public Health Service and pronounced them all fire-traps.”’ Forbes served as
director only a short time before the Veterans Bureau was under investigation for mismanagement.
Forbes resigned in 1923, when the Senate started its investigation into the agency. General Frank T.
Hines wzaés appointed by President Harding in March 1923 to replace Forbes as director of the Veterans
Bureau.

The Senate committee investigating the Veterans Bureau activities while under director Forbes
produced recommendations for streamlining all of the various laws related to veterans benefits. Many of
these recommendations were included in the World War Veterans Act (43 Stat. L., 607), enacted in
June 1924. This act liberalized the standards for admission to hospitals for veterans of conflicts prior to
World War | and also allowed the continued decentralization of the bureau throughout the nation.?

% Knight and Worden, 18-19; Tobey, 329-330; Weber and Schmeckebier, 114, 161, 163—-164, 217-218; Corzine,
n.p.; Adkins, 110-111; Annual Report of the Director United States Veterans Bureau for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 1922, (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1922), 16; Hamowy, 34; Furman, 344—346.
24 Adkins, 133-134; Annual Report of the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service of the United States for
the Fiscal Year 1922, (Washington, D.C.:U.S. Government Printing Office, 1922), 224.

5 C. C. Pierce, 33-35; John R. McDill, “A Development of Hospital Facilities for Disabled Veterans of the World
War,” The Modern Hospital 20, no. 1 (January 1923): 35.

% Furman, 344-346; Rosemary Stevens, “Can the Government Govern? Lessons from the Formation of the
Veterans Administration,” Journal of Health Palitics, Policy and Law 16, no. 2 (1991), 294-295; Adkins, 120-121;
Charles R. Forbes, “Inside the Harding Administration,” in Politics of the Nineteen Twenties, ed. John L. Shover
gWaItham, MA: Ginn-Blaisdell, 1970), 35—-36.

" Furman, 346.

8 Glover E. Hopson, The Veterans Administration, ([New York]: Chelsea House Publishers, 1988), 33-34; Knight
and Worden, 19.

# Tobey, 23-24; Knight and Worden, 19—20.
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According to Hamowy, the World War Veterans Act provided government sponsored health care to
veterans whether or not their disabilities or ailments were connected to their military service.*

The Veterans Bureau built twenty-one hospitals designated as either tuberculosis, neuropsychiatric,
or general medical and surgical hospitals, not including those erected or improved by the Treasury
Department. The hospitals designed for and by the Veterans Bureau incorporated concepts derived
from earlier federal examples set by the housing of large groups of men, such as Army reservations
and NHDVS branches. Concepts utilized at these three federal institutions include a campus setting
with buildings serving specific functions. While Army reservations, NHDVS branches, and Veterans
Bureau hospitals all serviced the needs of military personnel, each had different missions. Veterans
Bureau hospitals provided short-term rehabilitation and medical care to veterans, whereas Army
reservations and NHDVS branches supported the long-term housing of soldiers and veterans while also
offering medical care. The Veterans Bureau hospitals were focused on returning veterans to their
families and the work force in a timely manner. The size of each Veterans Bureau hospital campus was
dependent upon the sub-type of hospital that was to be erected at the site. The design of each of the
three Veterans Bureau hospital sub-types shares similar characteristics with the others, but no two
campuses are identical because of differences in the size of the property, topography, climate,
architectural style of the buildings, and patient capacity. But even with these variations, the Second
Generation Hospitals are clearly identifiable as a hospital type based on common elements of design.

The creation of the Veterans Bureau partially solved the earlier problems associated with separate
government entities handling issues involving veterans health care. But veterans concerns continued to
be managed in three different federal units: the Veterans Bureau, Bureau of Pensions, and the NHDVS.
This arrangement, whereby multiple units administered veterans benefits, would soon change.

V. Creation of the Veterans Administration

Congress enacted legislation in July 1930 (46 Stat. L., 1016) authorizing the president to merge the
Veterans Bureau, the NHDVS, and the Bureau of Pensions into a single entity, the Veterans
Administration. After its creation, the majority of benefits relating to veterans were overseen by the
Veterans Administration. Veterans benefits not controlled by the Veterans Administration included the
Naval Home at Philadelphia; the Soldier's Home and St. Elizabeths Hospital, both in Washington, D.C.;
the American Battle Monuments Commission; and veterans benefits managed by the Army and the
Bureau of Indian Affairs. In addition to veterans benefits, the Veterans Administration managed the
federal government’s civilian employees’ retirement disbursements. Frank T. Hines, who had been
director of the Veterans Bureau since 1923, was appointed administrator of the newly created Veterans
Administration. Hines guided the agency until his departure in 1945.%"

The Veterans Administration continued the medical facility construction design practices of its
predecessor, the Veterans Bureau, as the three hospital sub-types and the functional building types
continued to be erected by the Veterans Administration. In addition a fourth sub-type, veterans
homes/general medical hospitals, was constructed in three locations: Mississippi, Florida, and Oregon.
The three veterans homes/general medical hospitals were originally authorized as NHDVS branches,
but with the consolidation of services, the three facilities were designed by the Veterans Administration.

% Hamowy, 276.
% Weber and Schmeckebier, 226—-227; Knight and Worden, 25; Darlene Richardson, Historian at the Department
of Veterans Affairs, information provided to the author by email, August 25, 2010.
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These three facilities are unique to the Veterans Administration, having been constructed primarily for
domiciliary care but also offering general medical hospital facilities. The designs for Second Generation
Veterans Hospitals continued to evolve, just as they had under the Veterans Bureau. The hospitals of
the Veterans Administration sustained the earlier design concepts of a campus setting, with buildings
serving specific functions, and the grouping of buildings by function. The Veterans Administration also
continued to modify building and site plans and develop further the modifications that were taking place
at Veterans Bureau hospitals of the late 1920s. Included among these alterations is the use of less
formalized landscape designs allowing picturesque and naturalistic patterns for drives, sidewalks, and
plantings, when possible, and the development of the fully realized monumental Classical Revival-style
main buildings.

In addition to meeting the health care needs of veterans, the Veterans Bureau and Veterans
Administration began limited research programs starting in 1925. Most medical research in the United
States at the time was conducted by a few prominent facilities, universities, or foundations, such as the
Mayo Clinic. Veterans hospitals did not begin associations with medical schools until after World War II.
Research conducted by the Veterans Bureau and Veterans Administration was not to be academic in
nature but was expected to directly lead to better patient care in the veterans hospital system.
Beginning in 1932, three laboratories were created by the Veterans Administration to address specific
areas of medical research: tumor research at Edward Hines, Jr., Veterans Administration Hospital,
Hines, lllinois; neuropsychiatric research at Northport, New York; and cardiovascular research at
Washington, D.C. The research conducted at these three laboratories and other veterans hospitals led
to improvements in veterans health care.*

Disabled United States Veterans of World War |

I. Advances in Warfare During World War |

After the initial military thrusts, the Great War settled into a protracted campaign with nearly static
fronts and opposing forces defending their positions from trenches while separated by the muddied,
bomb-cratered, barbed-wired no man’s land. The swift mechanization of the military forces, from
cavalry to tanks and dirigibles to heavy airplane bombers, serves as an indicator of the many changes
in warfare experienced by the combatants of the First World War, especially in comparison to the type
of combat practiced and weaponry utilized during the American Civil War. This protracted conflict and
the trench warfare so closely identified with the “war to end all wars” led to chemical and mechanical
inventions and improvements clearly recognizable as modern warfare. The scientific innovations and
their military applications unleashed destructive forces never before seen on the battlefield.

Guy Hartcup states in The War of Invention, Scientific Developments, 1914-19, “Never before in
the history of warfare had so many guns been assembled or so many rounds fired as on the battlefields
of the Western Front.”*® In addition to the great number of guns were shells filled with TNT and other

% United States Department of Veterans Affairs, A Historical Look at the Establishment of the Department of
Veterans Affairs Research and Development Program, (Washinton, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 2010), 27,
41, 47, 51-57.

% Guy Hartcup, The War of Invention, Scientific Developments, 1914-18 (London: Brassey’s Defence Publishers,
1988), 44.
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high explosives that had not been utilized in such quantities before the First World War. Improvements
were also made to grenades, mortars and armor piercing shells, artillery pieces, machine guns,
torpedoes, submarines, and airplanes.® New devices unveiled during the conflict include the tank and
flame throwers (both having marginal success), chemical gases distributed through shells and cylinders
(including chorine and mustard gas), and the associated protective masks and equipment.*® These
improvements and innovations of military hardware led to new types of wounds and injuries unimagined
in the past, including victims suffering from gas attacks, psychological ilinesses, shrapnel, chemical
burns, bullet wounds (both rifle and machine gun), and wounds caused by shelling from heavy artillery
and aerial bombing. These casualties presented a dramatic shift from the types of wounds treated by
United States medical personnel in the Civil War and represent the basis of change in medical
treatment necessitated after World War | from that offered previously by the NHDVS.

Concurrent with innovations that increased casualties were improvements in the medical care of
wounded soldiers. Field hospitals were established to provide immediate attention and surgery, if
necessary. Field hospitals were constructed as temporary structures, usually of wood. Hospitals of the
European war theater were constructed on the pavilion plan, consisting of narrow wards attached to
corridors that divided soldiers into small groups. Pavilion plan hospitals were constructed to allow
breezes to pass through the wards to provide fresh air and remove stale and harmful air from the
wards. New anesthetics and antiseptics were also produced to reduce the incidence of infections from
shrapnel and surgeries, and improvements were made in the use of blood transfusions and the
treatment of casualties of gas attacks.*

Il. United States Casualties During World War |

In April 1917 the United States declared war on Germany, thus entering the Great War on the side
of the Allies. The drafting of men into the armed forces began in July 1917.%" During World War | over
4.7 million men and women entered the various military services of the United States. After reaching
training camps, over 740,000 potential soldiers were found to have mental or physical ailments
precluding them from service although they had been processed by their local draft boards.*® The
Armistice was signed on November 11, 1918, thereby ending military actions among the combatants.
The United States Army, including the National Guard, consisted of slightly over 200,000 men prior to
the war. By the end of the Great War these two armed services commanded nearly 3.7 million
soldiers.* During its brief active involvement in the war, the United States suffered 266,000 casualties
from military operations. Of this total, 60,000 were killed, and the remainder suffered wounds. An
additional 60,000 casualties died from diseases, approximately half in the United States during training
before deployment overseas. Many of these deaths were caused by the 1918-1919 influenza epidemic
that indiscriminately killed millions throughout the globe.*

% |bid, 45-49, 61-67, 122-123, 145-152, 156-157

*® |bid, 80-90, 94-103, 106-107

*° |bid, 167-170, 174-175.

3" pendergast and Pendergast, xvii, 175, 180, 182.

% |jams and Matz, 125-126.

% Farwell, 35-36, 53, 257.

“© Robert H. Zieger, America’s Great War, World War | and the American Experience (Lanham, MD: Rowman and
Littlefield Publishers, Inc., 2000), 108-109.
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Prior to the United States sending soldiers to the European theater, over 1,000 doctors visited field
hospitals to study the military medical procedures and lessons previously learned by the British. As
stated in Robert H. Zieger's America’s Great War, World War | and the American Experience, British
medical personnel were at first overwhelmed with the destructive effects modern military weapons
caused soldiers, from physical trauma caused by gas attacks and high explosives to psychological
disorders. The battlegrounds, formerly cultivated fields, were responsible for many of the deadly
infections received by wounded soldiers.** According to Zieger “31 percent of the wounded treated by
the U.S. Army were gas victims.”*?

Zieger also states that nearly 100,000 United States soldiers “were admitted to army hospitals with
psychological or nervous ailments, and 42,000 gained disability discharges on the basis of these
complaints.”® These were not only shell shock cases (also known as war neurosis); men in Army
camps in the United States and the European theater were found to suffer from mental ilinesses. At the
United States Army stations and hospitals of the Western Front, approximately 7,500 soldiers were
treated for neuropsychological issues.*

[ll. Neuropsychological Casualties of World War |

Even before the entrance of the United States into World War |, reports were issued from the
frontlines of soldiers suffering from shell shock, also referred to as war neurosis. It was initially thought
that the effects of shelling from modern high explosives were the cause of these casualties, as the
violent force of the explosions appeared to affect the combatants’ nervous systems. Continual gas
attacks also provoked the onset of shell shock in soldiers. Many of the wounded had no physical
injuries but suffered mental breakdowns leading to catatonic states, amnesia, tremors, nightmares,
insomnia, blindness, paralyzed limbs, and/or hysterical moments. The victims of this
neuropsychological illness included those of all ranks. It was later determined that rather than the
concussive effects of artillery on the nervous system, these conditions were caused by the experience
of soldiers facing the instruments and effects of modern warfare.*®

American doctors had observed the medical practices of the British and French in dealing with war
neurosis patients from the front lines prior to the United States entering the conflict. One such observer
was Dr. Thomas W. Salmon, who was the medical director of the National Committee for Mental
Hygiene. Efforts were made to initially identify men with mental illnesses during induction into the
United States Army in hopes of minimizing such cases later on, but many such recruits were still
admitted to the military. Once medical personnel from the United States began to deal with soldiers
suffering from shell shock, the preferred treatment was to quickly treat the men with food, rest,
exercise, and quiet quarters in rear areas but not far from the front. Once positive progress was made,
the soldier was sent back to the front lines to continue to serve alongside their comrades. The doctors

“! Ibid, 109.

*? Ibid, 110.

* Ibid, 111.

*“ Ibid.

*5 Zieger, 110; Pearce Bailey, Frankwood E. Williams, and Paul O. Komora, “Neuropsychiatry in the United
States,” in The Medical Department of the United States Army in the World War, Volume 10, edited by M. W.
Ireland (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1929), 1-3; Ben Shephard, A War of Nerves,
Soldiers and Psychiatrists in the Twentieth Century (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2001), 1-3, 62—
64.



OMB No. 1024-0018,

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section No. E  Page 14 United States Second Generation Veterans Hospitals, Nationwide

treating these men refrained from using the term “shell shock,” because it was not an accurate term,
which provided some legitimacy to those suffering from the ailment. It was deemed imperative to return
soldiers to action as soon as possible to keep others from falsely admitting to the illness in order to
escape the front lines. Many soldiers did not respond to the immediate treatment and therefore required
additional care in other facilities.*°

Prior to the war, the only hospitals providing treatment to soldiers with mental illnesses were St.
Elizabeths Hospital, a few beds in Walter Reed General Hospital, both in Washington, D.C., and a few
beds in Letterman General Hospital in San Francisco, California. After the United States’ entry into the
Great War, the Army created psychiatric wards in camp, cantonment, and base hospitals to handle
returning soldiers and to identify those suffering from mental illnesses before they were sent overseas.
At first the Army placed these patients in “isolation-insane” buildings, heavily secured structures more
like a stockade, but later they created psychiatric wards. The psychiatric wards were open wards with
plentiful windows, in many cases with iron mesh over the windows rather than bars, and provided
patients with medical care and activities. In cantonment hospitals, plans for psychiatric wards were
derived from designs of the National Committee for Mental Hygiene. The wards could care for patients
with varying degrees of illness, such as disturbed, semi-disturbed, and convalescent patients. The three
classes of patients were separated from one another, and the wards contained special treatment
facilities for the disturbed patients, including continuous baths, which were thought to calm patients.
Special wards in certain Army general hospitals were adapted to care for these cases during the war.
With the influx of soldiers suffering from war neurosis returning from Europe, additional hospitals were
opened for the treatment of neuropsychiatric patients, such as at Fort Benjamin Harrison in Indiana
(U.S. Army General Hospital No. 25) and at Fort Sheridan in lllinois (U.S. Army General Hospital No.
28). Occupational therapy was introduced in the Army hospitals for neuropsychiatric wards with almost
immediate benefits to the patients. Occupational therapy included classes in typing, bookkeeping,
vehicular mechanics, agriculture, drafting, basket making, and other activities.*’

In April 1919 the War Department issued Section VII, General Orders, No. 57, stating the
procedures for transferring soldiers suffering neuropsychiatric disorders to the Bureau of War Risk
Insurance and discharging the soldier from military service. The patient would be admitted to one of the
PHS hospitals acting under the Bureau of War Risk Insurance and would then be discharged from the
Army. Therefore patients received continuous treatment for their neuropsychiatric disorders. In many
cases the patient was able to obtain treatment in close proximity to their homes.*

Prior to the 1930s few drugs were utilized in the effort to cure neuropsychiatric patients. It was
thought that the human body could best fight off diseases with little interference from drugs introduced
into the patient’s system. According to Ben Shephard in A War of Nerves, Soldiers and Psychiatrists in
the Twentieth Century, this was in response to the overuse of drugs to treat most any illness in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. But the 1930s and 1940s began to see the introduction of new
drug treatments, including penicillin. Insulin shock therapy (placing patients in an insulin coma) and
electroshock therapy were both used as treatments for psychiatric patients during the 1940s and

*® Zieger, 110-111; Shephard, 123-126.
" Bailey, etc., 39-41, 44, 95-96.
*8 Ibid, 148-149.
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1950s.*® The 1950s was also the decade that saw the introduction of new psychotropic drugs in the
treatment of psychiatric disorders.*

The Veterans Administration was operating twenty-nine neuropsychiatric hospitals in 1940,
including those at former NHDVS branches. The largest of these at Northport, New York had a bed
capacity of 2,220 patients. Approximately 58 percent of the patients under the care of the Veterans
Administration were being treated for psychiatric illnesses at the end of fiscal year 1940 (June 30).**
Albert Deutsch’s 1944 article “Ill. Military Psychiatry: World War 1l, 1941-1943" states that by 1940,
“Three out of every five beds in the seventy-nine Veterans Administration Hospitals were occupied by
patients with nervous or mental disorders” and that each “psychiatric casualty of World War | had cost
American taxpayers over $30,000.”? Nearly 42 percent (45,723 beds) of the Veterans Administration’s
total bed capacity was utilized for patients suffering from mental illnesses in 1953. At the same time, an
additional 3,000 veterans suffering from neuropsychiatric disorders were placed in contract hospitals by
the Veterans Administration.>

V. Casualties of Gas Attacks

Two published articles from 1933 by Harry L. Gilchrist and Philip B. Matz in The Medical Bulletin of
the Veterans Administration discuss the possible lingering effects of gas attacks on United States
veterans of World War I. Over 70,700 United States casualties in Europe during World War | were
caused by gas attacks. Only 200 died from the immediate effects of the gas attacks on the battle lines,
but over 1,200 died in hospitals. Of the total number suffering the effects of gas attacks, 39 percent of
casualties originated from mustard gas attacks, less than 3 percent from chlorine gas, just over 10
percent from phosgene and arsine gas, and over 47 percent of casualties suffered injuries from
unknown types of gas, but possibly from those types already listed.>* The gases utilized in World War |
were divided up according to their physical effects on soldiers into groups including pulmonary irritants
that affect the respiratory system, which could lead to death from asphyxiation (chlorine and phosgene);
lacrimators, causing temporary irritation of the eyes (brom-benzylcyanide and chloracetophenone);
vesicants, creating skin irritations and infections of both the skin and respiratory tract (mustard gas);
sensory irritants, causing irritation of eyes, nose, and throat, as well as nausea, but normally not death
(diphenylchlorarsine); and poisons of the central nervous system that can be lethal (hydrocyanic acid).

* Shephard, 206, 363-364.

% Rodney R. Baker and Wade E. Pickren, Psychology and the Department of Veterans Affairs: A Historical
Analysis of Training, Research, Practice, and Advocacy (Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association,
2007), 56.

°! Samuel W. Hamilton, “The History of American Mental Hospitals,” in One Hundred Years of American
Psychiatry (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 1944), 145, 163-164; Baker and Pickren, 149; Annual
Report of the Administrator of Veterans Affairs for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1940 (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Government Printing Office, 1941), 7, 120.

°2 Albert Deutsch, “Ill. Military Psychiatry: World War 1l, 1941-1943,” in One Hundred Years of American
Psychiatry (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 1944), 424.

*3 Baker and Pickren, 56-57.

** Harry L. Gilchrist and Philip B. Matz, “The Residual Effects of Warfare Gases: The Use of Mustard Gas, With
Report of Cases,” Medical Bulletin of the Veterans Administration 9, no. 4 (April 1933): 339;